STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Berkeley County

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

EMORY WARREN ROBERTS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001676

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED  
OCT 04 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether Appellant's right to self-representation pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 14 of the South Carolina Constitution was violated when the trial judge denied his request to proceed *pro se*?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In a multi-count, multi-defendant indictment, the state grand jury indicted Appellant for trafficking in heroin in the amount of twenty-eight grams or more, three counts of distribution of heroin, trafficking in heroin between four and fourteen grams, possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and possession with intent to distribute methamphetamine (2016-GS-47-02) on April 12, 2016. R. 907-916. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 885, l. 7 – R. 886, l. 9. Judge Jefferson sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years imprisonment for trafficking heroin in the amount of twenty-eight grams or more, fifteen years for each count of distribution of heroin, fifteen years for trafficking heroin between four and fourteen grams, five years imprisonment for the firearm, and fifteen years imprisonment for possession with intent to distribute methamphetamine. R. 899, ll. 1-22; R. 917-923. She ordered all sentences to be served concurrently. R. 899, ll. 24-25; R. 917-923.

On July 31, 2017, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether a defendant has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel is a mixed question of law and fact which appellate courts review de novo.” State v. Samuel, 422 S.C. 596, 602, 813 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018) (citing United States v. Lopez-Osuna, 242 F.3d 1191, 1198 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000)). Appellate courts review “a circuit judge’s findings of historical fact for clear error,” but “review the denial of the right of self-representation based upon those findings of fact de novo.” Id. When reviewing a trial judge’s refusal to permit an individual to proceed *pro se*, the appellate court “must consider the defendant’s testimony, history, and the circumstances of his decision, as presented to the circuit judge at the time the defendant made his request.” Id. (citing United States v. Singleton, 107 F.3d 1091, 1097 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997)).

## ARGUMENT

Appellant's right to self-representation pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 14 of the South Carolina Constitution was violated when the trial judge denied his request to proceed *pro se*.

### **Relevant facts**

On July 19, 2017, Appellant moved to relieve trial counsel and for the appointment of new counsel or the opportunity to retain new counsel. R. 2, ll. 9-18. The judge indicated she would not appoint new counsel, but she would allow Appellant to retain new counsel as long as counsel was ready for trial on the following Monday. R. 2, ll. 16-24. Thereafter, trial counsel indicated he had some concerns about Appellant's competency. R. 3, ll. 17-21. Trial counsel explained that Appellant refused to cooperate with him, resulting in trial counsel asking a doctor to evaluate Appellant. R. 3, l. 23 – R. 4, l. 4. Trial counsel expressed "concerns about his capability to understand really what's going on." R. 5, ll. 3-6.

The doctor indicated that Appellant refused a formal evaluation. R. 6, ll. 2-8. Appellant "stated that he ha[d] the UCC-1308 code" as the "reason for his refusal." R. 6, ll. 7-15. The doctor indicated Appellant could not work with his attorney and the doctor did not think that it was "all volitional on his part." R. 6, ll. 22-24; R. 8, ll. 11-12. However, the doctor was unable to render any opinion. R. 6, ll. 17-18. According to the doctor, Appellant "pays attention" and has "understanding of some legal proceedings." R. 10, ll. 23-25. According to the doctor, Appellant was "cognitively" "able to represent himself or stand trial." R. 12, ll. 9-11. The doctor noted Appellant had "the cognitive capacity to pay attention and assist," but she explained there was "a paranoid flavor" to his relationship with counsel. R. 12, ll. 16-19. The doctor was unsure if it were "a pathological one" or "functional given some of his views." R. 12, ll. 19-21.

Appellant displayed “good eye contact” with the doctor and was able to communicate. R. 12, l. 23 – R. 13, l. 1. The doctor recommended the appointment of a guardian *ad litem* if Appellant were to continue with the same attorney. R. 14, ll. 7-13.

When the judge explained that she would not permit Appellant to represent himself *and* have counsel represent him simultaneously, she told Appellant that if he wanted to represent himself, he could talk all he wanted. R. 11, ll. 14-15. She also told Appellant that he would have to waive counsel with his “eyes wide open knowing that everything [he said] can be used against [his] best interest.” R. 11, ll. 15-17.

At the conclusion of the presentation regarding competency, the judge stated she did “not perceive that he is incompetent.” R. 22, ll. 1-2. In her estimation, Appellant had “a more than adequate understanding of the system.” R. 22, ll. 2-3. In the judge’s estimation, Appellant “probably ha[d] a better grasp of it than others.” R. 22, ll. 3-4. She perceived his refusal to cooperate with counsel and the doctor as “dilatory.” R. 22, ll. 4-6. The judge did “not perceive” that Appellant had “some cognitive deficits that prevent him from doing what he needs to do.” R. 23, ll. 8-9. Regarding, his intelligence, the judge opined he was “probably average standard if not slightly above average I.Q.” R. 23, ll. 10-12.

The judge then encouraged Appellant to take advantage of trial counsel’s representation. R. 24, ll. 8-15. However, if Appellant chose not to avail himself of representation that was “fine” by the judge. R. 24, ll. 16-17.

At the start of trial, the judge asked trial counsel if Appellant desired a formal arraignment. R. 116, ll. 7-10. When trial counsel indicated Appellant wanted to represent himself, the judge remarked that was “fine,” but she required trial counsel to remain as “shadow counsel.” R. 116, ll. 9-12. Thereafter, the judge inquired of Appellant personally regarding an

arraignment, his request for a bond, his desire for minutes from the statewide grand jury proceedings, and access to audio/visual elements of the discovery materials. R. 116, l. 23 – R. 131, l. 7. During the discussions of those matters, Appellant requested “a moment” and the judge agreed. R. 126, ll. 12-14. Then Appellant asked, apparently in reference to trial counsel, “He’s supposed to shadow me, right?” R. 126, l. 15. The judge responded:

Well, I would suggest to you that you keep him as your attorney because he knows the rules and you don’t. And you tell him what questions you want asked of witnesses so that he can phrase them the way that they should be phrased so that you don’t inadvertently incriminate yourself in anything. And I would strongly suggest you take advantage of a very seasoned criminal record.

R. 126, ll. 16-23. When Appellant protested that trial counsel was not working in his interest, the judge responded that he was working in Appellant’s interest and that he would not risk losing his law license to collaborate with the state. R. 126, l. 24 – R. 127, l. 9.

After these preliminary matters were discussed, the judge asked trial counsel if he were ready to proceed with jury selection. R. 133, ll. 6-7. Trial counsel indicated Appellant was prepared to go forward as his own lawyer. R. 133, ll. 8-9. The judge responded that she was not going to relieve trial counsel “at this late stage or juncture.” R. 133, ll. 10-11. She did not think it was “prudent to relieve [trial counsel] as counsel.” R. 133, l. 12. Recognizing Appellant’s constitutional right to act as his own counsel, the judge stated she did not “perceive” that Appellant had “sufficient grasps of the rules such that he would be able to protect his own interests.” R. 133, ll. 17-21. Thus, she refused to relieve trial counsel and permit Appellant to represent himself. R. 133, ll. 20-21. Despite Appellant’s protestations, the judge refused to permit him to proceed *pro se*. R. 133, l. 22 – R. 134, l. 15.

Even at the start of jury selection, Appellant continued to express his desire for self-representation, but he was rebuffed. R. 134, ll. 12-14; R. 143, l. 23 – R. 144, l. 8; R. 145, ll. 11-

12. The judge threatened to remove Appellant and his lawyer from the courtroom if he made “any other outbursts.” R. 144, ll. 9-12. The judge explained she had denied Appellant’s motion for self-representation because she did not believe that he understood “the significant jeopardy” that he was placing himself in by invoking his constitutional right to self-representation. R. 145, ll. 14-16. She did “not perceive” that Appellant had “any grasp of the rules of evidence or procedure.” R. 145, ll. 17-18. According to Judge Jefferson, self-representation “would be a substantial constitutional deprivation of [his] rights.” R. 145, ll. 18-20. Therefore, she denied his motion for self-representation, stating he did not “understand the consequences of [his] decision to proceed without a lawyer.” R. 145, ll. 20-23. The judge then returned to some matters discussed during pre-trial hearings. “Contrary to what Dr. Maddox observed,” the judge “deliberately” made “a conscious and concerted effort to observe” Appellant’s “behavior.” R. 146, ll. 1-3. She determined Appellant was “more than qualified and adaptable and aware of what [was] going on.” R. 146, ll. 3-4. She was confident that Appellant had “more than adequate ability to assist [his] counsel.” R. 146, ll. 4-5. Per her observations, Appellant had “been involved in all the proceedings” and had “more than the ability to communicate” with trial counsel. R. 146, ll. 5-8.

Throughout the course of the trial, Appellant continued to press his desire for self-representation, explaining his need to protect the record for appeal. R. 392, ll. 22-25; R. 393, ll. 7-8; R. 393, ll. 11-12; R. 393, ll. 24-25. Judge Jefferson re-iterated that South Carolina did not permit “hybrid representation” and that if “something” needed “to be protected,” trial counsel would “do that.” R. 393, ll. 1-6.

At the conclusion of the trial, Appellant still expressed his desire for self-representation. R. 890, l. 9; R. 890, l. 15. After the jury found Appellant guilty, Appellant asked if he could

represent himself on appeal. The judge responded that if he wanted an appeal, trial counsel would file “a motion to appeal.” R. 890, ll. 11-12. Thereafter, “Indigent Defense” would “step in and take over.” R. 890, ll. 12-13. When Appellant reiterated his desire for self-representation, the judge told him he did not “want to do that” because “[t]hey have a whole group of lawyers who all they do is appeals. They are very good at it. Take advantage of their services, at no charge to you.” R. 890, ll. 16-19.

During the sentencing portion, trial counsel echoed his sentiments from pre-trial proceedings: “I still believe, Your Honor, as when I asked for that evaluation, I truly believe that there is something going on. I really think that he needs some help. And that at some point with the right kind of help, he could be a citizen and a productive citizen, Your Honor.” R. 894, ll. 18-22. The judge responded that while trial counsel may have “concerns” regarding Appellant’s “need for potentially an evaluation of some type to see if he needs counseling, medication, or otherwise,” she had “no concern about his ability to have assisted in his representation, to understand the nature of these proceedings.” R. 897, ll. 1-6. It was “clear” to the judge that Appellant had been “cognizant of place and time,” and that he was “well aware of the nature of these proceedings.” R. 897, ll. 6-8. Furthermore, “due to the breadth of his criminal history,” the judge had “no concern that he understands the legal process, that he understands the nature of his right to a jury trial, his right to a defense, and the other rights attendant constitutionally to him, as he has more than on many events during the court of this trial articulated for the Court.” R. 897, ll. 8-14.

### **Discussion**

A criminal defendant “has the constitutional right to represent himself under both the federal and state constitutions.” State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 35, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014)(citing State v.

Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604 (2010)); see also State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 586, 698 S.E.2d 596, 602 (2010)(explaining “[a]n accused may waive the right to counsel and proceed *pro se*” and “[t]he request to proceed *pro se* must be clearly asserted by the defendant prior to trial”). “The Sixth Amendment does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense.” Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819 (1975); see also McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 174 (1984)(explaining “Faretta’s holding was based on the long-standing recognition of a right of self-representation in federal and state courts, and on the language, structure and spirit of the Sixth Amendment”); United States v. Singleton, 107 F.3d 1091, 1095 (4th Cir. 1997)(stating “the Sixth Amendment implicitly provides an affirmative right to self-representation”).<sup>1</sup> According to the Fourth Circuit, the right to self-representation is “mutually exclusive” of the right to counsel. United States v. Bush, 404 F.3d 263, 270 (4th Cir. 2005).

The right to self-representation “must be preserved even if the court believes that the defendant will benefit from the advice of counsel.” State v. Fuller, 337 S.C. 236, 241, 523 S.E.2d 168, 170 (1999)(citing United States v. Singleton, 107 F.3d 1091 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997)). In fact, even if the decision to proceed *pro se* is to the defendant’s detriment, the decision “must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.” Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834; see also State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. 117, 119, 492 S.E.2d 97, 98 (1997). “So long as the defendant makes his request prior to trial, the only proper inquiry is that mandated by Faretta.” Barnes, 407 S.C. at 35, 753 S.E.2d at 550.

---

<sup>1</sup> The South Carolina Constitution explicitly provides for the right of self-representation: “Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right ... to be fully heard in his defense by himself or by his counsel or by both.” S.C. Const. Art. I, § 14.

“When an accused manages his own defense, he relinquishes, as a purely factual matter, many of the traditional benefits associated with the right to counsel.” Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835. Thus, the decision to proceed *pro se* must be made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. Id. “The ultimate test of whether a defendant has made a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to counsel is not the trial judge’s advice, but the defendant’s understanding.” Brewer, 328 S.C. at 119, 492 S.E.2d at 98 (citing Graves v. State, 309 S.C. 307, 422 S.E.2d 125 (1992)). “A determination by the trial judge that the accused lacks the expertise or technical legal knowledge to proceed *pro se* does not justify a denial of the right to self-representation; the only relevant inquiry is whether the accused made a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to counsel.” Id. “A decision can be made intelligently, with an understanding of the consequences, without the decision itself being a wise one.” Id. at 120, 492 S.E.2d at 99.

“Under Faretta, the trial judge has the responsibility to make sure that the defendant is informed of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, and that he makes a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel.” Barnes, 407 S.C. at 36, 753 S.E.2d at 550; see also State v. Dixon, 269 S.C. 107, 236 S.E.2d 419 (1977)(explaining “it is the responsibility of the trial judge to determine whether there is or is not an intelligent and competent waiver”). “Faretta requires that a defendant ‘be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation so that the record will establish he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.’” Wroten v. State, 301 S.C. 293, 294, 391 S.E.2d 575, 576 (1990)(quoting Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835). “To establish a valid waiver of counsel, Faretta requires the accused be: (1) advised of his right to counsel; and (2) adequately warned of the dangers of self-representation.” Prince v. State, 301 S.C. 422, 423-424, 392 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1990).

According to the South Carolina Supreme Court, “a specific inquiry by the trial judge expressly addressing the disadvantages of a *pro se* defense is preferred.” *Id.* The trial judge must “make a meaningful inquiry into [a defendant’s] background to determine whether [the defendant] had sufficient experience or knowledge to waive counsel.” *Watts v. State*, 347 S.C. 399, 403, 556 S.E.2d 368, 371 (2001).

The United States Supreme Court held that when a defendant requests to proceed *pro se*, “a judge must investigate as long and as thoroughly as the circumstances of the case before him demand.” *Von Moltke v. Gillies*, 332 U.S. 708, 723-724 (1948). “To be valid such a waiver must be made with an apprehension of the nature of the charges, the statutory offenses included within them, the range of allowable punishments thereunder, possible defenses to the charges and circumstances in mitigation thereof, and all other facts essential to a broad understanding of the whole matter.” *Id.* at 724. Thus, a judge must make “a penetrating and comprehensive examination of all the circumstances.” *Id.*; see also *United States v. Stanley*, 739 F.3d 633, 345 (11th Cir. 2014)(noting the “ideal method” for determining an exercise of the right to self-representation is to conduct a pre-trial hearing, informing the defendant of the charges, basic trial procedures, and the hazards of self-representation).

“The judicial inquiry and educative effort concerning the importance of legal representation that must necessarily precede any knowing and intelligent waiver of counsel cannot be cursory or by-the-way in nature.” *United States v. Belanger*, 936 F.2d 916, 918 (7th Cir. 1991). At a minimum, a court must inform a defendant “of the crimes with which he was charged, the nature of those charges, and the possible sentences they carry.” *Id.* Also, “a defendant should be made aware of the ‘difficulties he would encounter in acting as his own counsel.’” *Id.* at 919 (quoting *United States v. Moya-Gomez*, 860 F.2d 706, 733 (7th Cir. 1988)); see also *United States v. McBride*, 362

F.3d 360, 366 (6th Cir. 2004)(explaining the Sixth Circuit’s “model inquiry” for courts to use when confronted with a request for self-representation).

However, “[t]he ultimate test of whether a defendant has made a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to counsel is the defendant’s understanding.” State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 41, 503 S.E.2d 747, 750 (1998).

According to the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, an assertion of the right to self-representation must be (1) clear and unequivocal, (2) knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, and (3) timely. See United States v. Ductan, 800 F.3d 642, 650 (4th Cir. 2015); United States v. Frazier-El, 204 F.3d 553, 558 (4th Cir. 2000). Recently, the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted this three-part test as well. City of Columbia v. Assa’ad-Faltas, 420 S.C. 28, 45, 800 S.E.2d 782, 791 (2017).

#### *Clear & unequivocal invocation*

“The right to appear *pro se* must be clearly asserted by the defendant before trial.” State v. Sims, 304 S.C. 409, 415, 405 S.E.2d 377, 381 (1991); see also Fields v. Murray, 49 F.3d 1024, 1029 (4th Cir. 1995)(invocation of right to self-representation must be clear and unequivocal); United States v. Treff, 924 F.2d 975, 979 (10th Cir. 1991)(explaining the request must be unequivocal to avoid a “cat and mouse” game).

Prior to the trial, Appellant invoked his constitutional right to self-representation, and the judge agreed he had a right to self-representation. Appellant clearly and unequivocally requested to exercise his constitutional right to self-representation, and the judge appeared to agree that Appellant could represent himself when she explained it was “fine” with her if Appellant chose not to avail himself of appointed counsel. Nevertheless, the pre-trial hearings continued with trial counsel acting as Appellant’s advocate.

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