STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001676

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

EMORY WARREN ROBERTS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

SFP 20 2018

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001676

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

EMORY WARREN ROBERTS,

Appellant.

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly refused to allow Appellant to represent himself when his request was not unequivocal and when Appellant demonstrated that if he were allowed to represent himself he would make improper or meritless arguments and not abide by rules of courtroom procedure and protocol.

Appellant contends the trial judge violated his Sixth Amendment right to self-representation by refusing to allow him to proceed *pro se*. Specifically, Appellant contends his invocation of his right to self-representation was (1) unequivocal, (2) knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, and (3) timely. Appellant's argument is without merit. Appellant never expressed any desire to represent himself until after jury selection had taken place and even then his request was not unequivocal. (R. 145). Prior to that, Appellant had only requested that alternate counsel be appointed. (R. 2). Because Appellant did not invoke his right to self-representation until after the trial began, his request was not timely. Finally, Appellant's request was not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary because by refusing to engage with the trial judge regarding his background and his understanding of courtroom proceedings, Appellant was unable to make this showing. Assuming for the sake of argument that Appellant appropriately invoked his right of self-representation, the trial judge nevertheless properly refused to allow Appellant to represent himself because Appellant attempted to delay the proceedings, made frivolous arguments, and would not comply with the rules of the courtroom. Appellant acted in a classic dilatory manner. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

A criminal defendant has a fundamental right to self-representation under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819-21 (1975). However the right of self-representation is not absolute. United States v. Frazier-El, 204 F.3d 553, 559 (4th Cir. 2000). "The government's interest in ensuring the integrity and efficiency

of the trial at times outweighs the defendant's interest in acting as his own lawyer." Martinez v. Court of Appeal of California, 528 U.S. 152, 162 (2000).

The right to counsel is mutually exclusive of the right to self-representation. United States v. Bush, 404 F.3d 263, 270 (4th Cir. 2005). "The right to counsel is preeminent and hence, the default position." United States v. Ductan, 800 F.3d 642, 649 (4th Cir. 2015) (quoting United States v. Singleton, 107 F.3d 1091, 1096 (4th Cir. 1997)). The right to counsel is so important that courts should "indulge in every reasonable presumption against [its] waiver." Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387, 404 (1977).

To properly assert the right of self-representation, an assertion must be "(1) clear and unequivocal, (2) knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, and (3) timely." Frazier-El 204 F.3d at 558. (internal citations omitted). The right of self-representation must "be asserted at some time before meaningful trial proceedings have commenced and thereafter its exercise rests within the sound discretion of the trial court." United States v. Lawrence, 605 F.2d 1321, 1325 (4th Cir. 1979). "The right of self-representation is not a license to abuse the dignity of the courtroom. Neither is it a license not to comply with relevant rules of procedural and substantive law." Faretta 422 U.S. at 834. "The right of self-representation does not exist to be used as a tactic for delay, for disruption, for distortion of the system, or for manipulation of the trial process." City of Columbia v. Assa'ad-Faltas, 420 S.C. 28, 45, 800 S.E.2d 782, 790 (2017). "A trial court may refuse to permit a criminal defendant to represent himself when he or she is not able and willing to abide by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol." Unites States v. Lopez-Osuna, 242 F.3d 1191, 1200 (9th Cir. 2000). "A trial court must be permitted to distinguish between a manipulative effort to present particular arguments and a sincere desire to dispense with the benefits of counsel." Assa'ad-Faltas, 420 S.C. at 45, 800 S.E.2d at 791.

Equivocal

Appellant did not unequivocally invoke his right to self-representation. In Appellant's pre-trial hearing, Griffith informed the trial judge that Appellant did not want Griffith to represent him. (R. 2). Specifically, Griffith stated that Appellant wanted another attorney appointed, but in the alternative, Appellant's family may be able to hire private counsel. (R. 2). For the duration of the pre-trial hearing, Appellant continued to object to Griffith acting as his lawyer but Appellant never asserted that he wanted to represent himself.

At trial, Griffith informed the trial judge that Appellant wanted to represent himself, and though he later spoke directly to the court, Appellant himself never made this request. (R. 116). The trial judge initially told Griffith and Appellant that Griffith would remain as a shadow counsel. (R. 116). Appellant later asked for clarification on the status of his counsel. (R. 126). The trial judge clarified that she recommended Appellant keep Griffith as his attorney. (R. 126). At this point, Appellant did not request to represent himself, but rather he complained that Griffith was hostile to him and not working in his interest. (R. 126-27). Appellant then raised other frivolous arguments regarding his bond and the jurisdiction of the court before the trial judge informed Appellant that Griffith was not being relieved as counsel. (R. 127-33).

To the extent Griffith's comments to the Court at the start of trial can be construed as a request for self-representation, Appellant effectively walked back that request in his own exchange with the court. After challenging the jurisdiction of the court an additional time, Appellant made the following statement: "All right. Constitutionally, I can represent myself." (R. 145, lines 11-12). Appellant's statement is somewhat ambiguous as it is not so much a request as it is a declaration of Appellant's rights. Appellant correctly states that he has a constitutional right to represent himself, but he does not unequivocally request to do so. Even assuming that

Appellant's statement was a request to represent himself, the trial judge properly treated Appellant's request with skepticism. Considering that Appellant frequently complained about his lawyer and wanted new counsel appointed throughout the pre-trial hearing and the early part of trial, the trial judge rightfully did not accept Appellant's request as being unequivocal. Appellant only half-heartedly invoked his right to counsel after it was clear the trial judge would not appoint him a new attorney. The trial judge appropriately exercised her discretion by keeping appointed counsel in place for Appellant. See City of Columbia v. Assa'ad-Faltas, 420 S.C. 28, 800 S.E.2d 782 (2017). Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

Not Knowing, Intelligent, and Voluntary

Assuming for the sake of argument that Appellant's invocation of his right to self-representation was unequivocal, Appellant's behavior made it so the trial judge was unable to determine if his decision was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. The trial judge could not determine whether Appellant's request to represent himself was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary because Appellant refused to engage with the trial judge as she inquired about his age, educational background, and work history. A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced. See State v. Babb, 299 S.C. 451, 455, 385 S.E.2d 827, 829 (1989).

At the beginning of Appellant's pre-trial hearing, Griffith expressed concerns about Appellant's competence and Appellant's unwillingness to speak with him. (R. 3-5). The court heard testimony from Dr. Maddox that Appellant refused to be evaluated. (R. 6). Appellant stated that his reason for refusing evaluation was section 1308 of the Uniform Commercial Code. (R. 6). After hearing testimony from Dr. Maddox, the trial judge attempted to obtain basic information from Appellant such as his name, work history, and educational background. (R. 15-

20). Appellant refused to answer the trial judge's questions. The following exchange between Appellant and the trial judge is instructive:

The Court: Sir, how old are you?

Appellant: That's immaterial, Your Honor.

The Court: How old are you? It is material. It goes to your competency and whether you understand what is going on and whether your age and discretion to understand where you are and what you are doing (sic). How old are you?

Appellant: The court is lacking jurisdiction, Your Honor. It's immaterial—

(R. 20, lines 4-12).

The preceding exchange exemplifies the difficulty the trial judge faced in determining whether Appellant's decision was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. The trial judge explained to Appellant the purpose of her questions and yet Appellant did not provide any meaningful answers. Appellant continued to challenge the jurisdiction of the court and insisted the proceedings were governed by the uniform commercial code. When faced with Appellant's intransigence and lack of cooperation with Dr. Maddox or herself, the trial judge was unable to determine whether Appellant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily invoked his right to self-representation. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

Untimely

Assuming that Appellant's invocation of his right to self-representation was unequivocal and knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, Appellant still failed to properly invoke his right of self-representation, because his invocation was not timely. Appellant never asserted his desire to proceed *pro se* during his pre-trial hearing despite being told that he had a right to do so. (R. 25-26). Griffith did say that Appellant wished to represent himself at the beginning of his trial and Griffith was told to remain with Appellant as shadow counsel. However, the trial judge

ultimately changed her mind after Appellant continued to present frivolous arguments to the court. After the trial judge informed Appellant that Griffith would remain as his counsel, Appellant complained about Griffith being his attorney but otherwise did not request that he be allowed to represent himself. Appellant did not talk about his constitutional right to represent himself until after the trial had already begun and jury selection had taken place. (R. 145). The trial judge appropriately exercised her discretion in denying Appellant's request to proceed *pro se* because his request was not timely. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

Appellant's Dilatory Motive

Even if Appellant had properly invoked his right to self-representation, the trial judge still properly refused to allow Appellant to proceed *pro-se* because of his lack of cooperation with the court and the likelihood that Appellant would fail to comply with court rules and would present improper arguments. Before Appellant's trial even began, Appellant demonstrated that he would present frivolous arguments to the court by refusing a formal evaluation from Dr. Maddox based on the Uniform Commercial Code. (R. 6, 63). At the pre-trial hearing Appellant continued to advance the same frivolous argument that the court did not have jurisdiction over him. (R. 15). After the trial judge explained to Appellant that the Uniform Commercial Code had no relevance in criminal court, Appellant asserted "That's not my name. That's an article—that's a straw man, a legal fiction and he can't represent me unless it's for a whole settlement and closure in a transaction." (R. 16, 19-20, lines 25-1). Thus, Appellant demonstrated that he would continue to advance this improper argument if he were allowed to represent himself. The trial judge recognized this when she noted:

The Court: [Appellant] is no different than anyone else who has convinced themselves that the uniform commercial code is applicable in a criminal situation when it is not, hoping that that will somehow salvage or delay the proceedings and prevent the court from proceeding.

(R. 23, lines 19-23).

At trial, Appellant continued his effort to present frivolous arguments by claiming he had a letter indicating he had no outstanding charges with the State Grand Jury. (R. 122). In actuality, Appellant presented the trial judge with a letter from the Department of Public Safety which said Appellant did not have outstanding charges with that agency. (R. 122-25). Appellant then attempted to prove the State Grand Jury never met to true bill the indictments charging him with the crimes for which he stood trial, despite the fact the trial judge presented Appellant with his certified indictments. (R. 123). After Appellant's initial arguments failed, Appellant argued that the Attorney General's Office was corrupt. (R. 148). To prove his theory, Appellant asked the trial judge if he could call the Assistant Attorney General prosecuting the case as a witness. (R. 148).

In addition to consistently presenting frivolous arguments, Appellant also displayed a lack of respect for courtroom rules and procedure. Appellant interrupted the trial judge while she was speaking, interrupted the direct examination of a State's witness, and attempted to speak directly to the jury during jury selection. (R. 22, 40-41, 142). The trial judge also appropriately recognized Appellant's attempts to delay the proceedings. Appellant not only refused evaluation by Dr. Maddox, but was unable to even be transported to MUSC because he assaulted a prison guard who was attempting to transport him. (R. 5-6, 63, 894). Appellant was working with his second appointed attorney after Appellant's first counsel was relieved of representing Appellant at Appellant's request. (R. 905). At trial, Appellant claimed to have not received discovery, despite Griffith telling the court that he had received and shared all discovery with Appellant. (R. 118).

The current case is very similar to the factual scenario considered by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals in United States v. Frazier-El, 204 F.3d 553 (4th Cir. 2000). In Frazier-El, the Fourth Circuit considered whether the trial court properly required Frazier-El to proceed with appointed counsel rather allowing Frazier-El to represent himself. Frazier-El's attorney moved for a psychiatric evaluation to determine Frazier-El's competence. Frazier-El 204 F3d at 556. After being found competent to stand trial, Frazier-El moved to have his attorney relieved because his attorney was not working in his interest and refused to file motions on his behalf asserting the court did not have jurisdiction over Frazier-El because he was "an officer in the Moorish Science Temple." Frazier-El, 204 F.3d at 557. Frazier-El admitted that he would continue to argue that the court did not have jurisdiction over him if he were allowed to represent himself. Frazier-El also admitted he would continue to request a different attorney if replacement counsel did not make the same argument. Frazier-El, 204 F.3d at 557-58. The Fourth Circuit held that Frazier-El's request to represent himself was an attempt to manipulate the court system rather than a genuine desire to represent himself. Frazier-El, 204 F.3d at 560.

Here, like Frazier-El, Griffith had concerns about Appellant's competence and moved for an evaluation. Like Frazier-El, Appellant was deemed competent to stand trial. (R. 12). Frazier-El and Appellant both said that their attorney was working against their interest and both men sought to present frivolous arguments challenging the jurisdiction of the court. This Court should reach the same conclusion the Fourth Circuit did in Frazier-El. The trial judge appropriately recognized that Appellant's request for self-representation was intended to delay his trial. In the alternative to the trial being delayed, Appellant intended to present frivolous arguments and otherwise refuse to abide by courtroom rules and protocol. The trial judge's refusal to allow Appellant to proceed *pro se*, and Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.